ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 19 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 2013-UP-062 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 1/30/2013)

07-GS-26-2974,2975, 2976

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER M. STEPHENS,

PETITIONER

Appellate Case No. 2013-000793

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding that the error of the trial court in admitting the testimony of SLED “victimologist expert” Mike Prodan was harmless error, since his speculative, irrelevant, and inadmissible testimony under State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) impermissibly led the jury to believe the relationship between petitioner and the decedent was consistent with the motive for and the circumstances of the murder?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding the hearsay testimony of James Pearl that decedent Jamilla Hightower was screaming at petitioner in anger about the money he owed her for drugs was admissible as an “adoptive admission” since petitioner was present and did not deny it since some accusations or assertions, including this one, are not worth of a response and the legal principle of an “adoptive admission” was therefore inapplicable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for two counts of accessory before the fact of murder and one count of accessory before the fact of armed robbery. R. p. 1059. Petitioner's co-defendant, Jimmy Lee Sessions, was indicted for two counts of murder, burglary in the first degree and armed robbery. R. p. 1051.

Their joint cases were called to trial on February 2, 2009, before the Honorable Stephen H. John and a jury. Bobby Frederick and Laura Hiller represented petitioner. Johnny Gardner represented co-defendant Sessions. Bradley Coy Richardson and Donna Elder were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on February 6, 2009, the jury found petitioner guilty of two counts of accessory before the fact of murder and one count of accessory before the fact of armed robbery. R. 1032, ll. 7-25. Co-defendant Sessions was found guilty of two counts of murder, burglary in the first degree and armed robbery. R. 1032, l. 13 – 1024, l. 25.

The judge sentenced petitioner to sentences totaling forty years. Co-defendant Sessions was sentenced to life imprisonment. R. 1047, l. 9-1048, l. 13.

The Court of Appeals confirmed petitioner's convictions in State v. Christopher M. Stephens, 2013-UP-062 (filed January 30, 2013). App. 1-4. Petitioner sought rehearing. App. 5-9. Rehearing was denied. App. 10.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding that the error of the trial court in admitting the testimony of SLED “victimologist expert” Mike Prodan was harmless error, since his speculative, irrelevant, and inadmissible testimony under State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) impermissibly led the jury to believe the relationship between petitioner and the decedent was consistent with the motive for and the circumstances of the murder.

Relevant trial facts

James Pearl was the star witness for the state. He was an acknowledged cocaine addict, and he even admitted that he had smoked marijuana the night before petitioner’s trial. R. 161, l. 17 – 165, l. 25. Pearl claimed he knew Jamilla Hightower and Monica Wall. Hightower was a major drug dealer and she shared a house with Wall. R. 117, ll. 9-10. Pearl said he also knew petitioner and co-defendant Sessions. R. 117, ll. 20-22.

Pearl learned that the decedents had been killed when he received a call from Hightower’s cousin on a Friday. R. 118, ll. 5-21. Pearl said he had seen Hightower on Wednesday, two days before, while he was conversing with petitioner and co-defendant Sessions. Over defense counsel Frederick’s repeated hearsay objections, Pearl testified that Hightower was screaming at petitioner about the money he owed her. Defense counsel made clear he understood the witness could repeat what petitioner said but that he continued to object to the hearsay testimony about what Hightower was allegedly said to petitioner. The judge continued to allow the solicitor to pursue this line of hearsay question and answer. Pearl said the decedent was yelling “about drug money that was owed [her by petitioner].” R. 120, l. 6 – 123, l. 5.

Other testimony

Pearl claimed petitioner said after Hightower left that he could not rob her because she knew him. Pearl maintained that Sessions then offered that he could rob Hightower. Pearl said he told both men he did not want anything to do with a robbery and he left. R. 123, l. 6 – 124, l. 21.

Pearl's claim was that petitioner and co-defendant Sessions planned to rob and kill Hightower and steal her money and drugs. R. 124, l. 20 – 127, l. 14. Pearl maintained he later snorted cocaine with co-defendant Sessions and that the cocaine tasted like cucumbers. Pearl said that cocaine that tasted like cucumbers was "Jamilla's" signature cocaine. R. 126, l. 22 – 127, l. 14.

Pearl testified Hightower was major drug dealer and that he once saw her purchase two kilos of cocaine. Pearl also maintained **that a purchaser had to call Hightower in advance** to set up a drug buy: "You just couldn't go to her house and show up without calling." R. 131, ll. 13-25. As will be seen *infra*, witness Prodan worked this into his "profile" presentation that was strongly objected to defense counsel in this case, and was the subject of reversal in *State v. Tapp*, 387 S.C. 159, 691 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2009); *reversed*, *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) (Prodan's testimony should not have been admitted but the error was harmless).

Prodan

Without any prior notice, the state called Michael Prodan as a witness. R. 568 ll. 5-18. Prodan testified that he had worked in California, and he said he had been qualified as a "behavioral science expert" in the past. Prodan admitted he had no "formal training . . ." He asserted he had "self-initiated education involving keeping abreast of the literature involving homicide and sexual assault, and violent crime in general, and involving the literature and the texts that are available, not only to law enforcement but to the general public." R. 569, l. 12 – 571, l. 24.

When the solicitor went to offer Prodan “as an expert in the field of crime scene interpretation and analysis,” the jury was removed from the courtroom while the defense attorneys put their considerable objections to Prodan being qualified as an expert on the record. R. 571, l. 14 – 572, l. 22. Defense Counsel Gardner said the defense was taken completely by surprise by this testimony and said: “It’s a shock to me. It’s a surprise to me, and I would just put that on the record.” R. 572, l. 14 – 573, l. 5.

Defense Counsel Frederick expanded on that objection noting that despite the voluminous discovery all he was aware of was that Prodan and other SLED “profilers” suggested “that they put an informant in Christopher Stephens’s cell. This was before he was charged. They – and that’s it, judge.” R. 573, ll. 6-19.

Prodan then testified in camera that he had not written any report on his work during this investigation. R. 575, ll. 16-22; 578, l. 3 – 579, l. 9; 580, l. 12 – 581, l. 8. Both defense attorneys objected to Prodan being qualified to give an opinion as an expert. R. 582, l. 17 – 585, l. 22. The objections included that Prodan’s testimony in this regard was not relevant and that it was pure speculation. R. 602, ll. 4-18. The judge ruled he was going to qualify Prodan “in the areas of behavioral science, violent crimes, methodology, motive behavior.” R. 585, l. 11 – 586, l. 3; 602, ll. 6-18.

As in State v. Tapp, supra, Prodan said he asked for background information on the victim or victims. Prodan testified he tried to ascertain whether the victim was a high risk individual because of their life style. Prodan opined that some people who were “low risk” because they were not involved “in criminal enterprises, they are not selling drugs, they are not involved in sexual affairs or promiscuity or prostitution.” R. 576, l. 4 – 588, l. 4.

Prodan also told the jurors there were “moderate risk life styles.” These included people working in a convenience store and a cab driver. R. 588, l. 17 – 589, l. 12.

The solicitor asked Prodan about the decedent’s “risk level.” Prodan opined decedent Hightower was probably a moderate risk because of her drug sales. “It was not – it doesn’t give rise to the level of multi-national cartels, but it’s not a college student selling five dollar baggies of marijuana to their dorm mates either, so it has to kind of fall in the middle.” Prodan said the other decedent had an “exceedingly low risk” life style, other than her living with decedent Hightower. R. 589, l. 16 – 590, l. 5.

Prodan opined that there is a misconception perpetuated by the media that violent crimes just happen and are random events. “Our experience and our training indicate that is not the case. There is a motive for murder. There are victims who are selected by the offender for that reason.” R. 590, ll. 6-21.

Prodan said he had to ask himself how the person got into the house in this case since there was no forced entry. Prodan then stated his “background information” indicated that Hightower only sold drugs “*if there was previous notification.*” R. 595, l. 1 – 596, l. 14. (emphasis added).

Prodan offered there was no evidence either of the decedents were a “victim of blunt-forced trauma.” Prodan opined that both decedents were able to be controlled by the murderer, and he noted the fact decedent Wall was found nude. “The question you ask yourself is, while the individual is having Ms. Wall disrobe, what’s Ms. Hightower doing.” Defense counsel Frederick objected that this testimony was pure speculation. R. 597, l. 14 – 598, l. 21. As Prodan continued, the defense made further relevance and speculation objections that were overruled. R. 602, ll. 4-18.

Prodan again opined that there was always a motive for murder and that the concept of murder without motive was a media myth. R. 608, l. 11 – 609, l. 8.

In his closing argument, the solicitor noted Prodan's testimony and argued that petitioner and co-defendant Sessions planned the crime carefully and that one decedent was shot with a pillow over her head "because as Mike Prodan said, it's a lot easier to shoot that pillow than to shoot Jamilla Hightower." R. 1010, l. 5 – 1011, l. 5.

Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals held that the "[t]he trial judge erred in admitting Prodan's testimony without making his own determination whether it was reliable." *Citing State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). The Court found the error harmless because "Prodan's testimony concerned only the victims and the crime scene. He never identified Stephens, the co-defendant, or anyone else as a perpetrator and testified that at his insistence, he was not given any information about any suspects developed in this case." App 3-4.

Discussion

The reasoning of the Court of Appeals above is respectfully what gave Prodan's testimony the illusion that his "expert victimology" should be given credence. The testimony was that the drug dealing victim would not allow a stranger into the house, and there had to be previous notification from a known buyer. The jury knew that petitioner apparently knew the drug dealer well, and vice versa.

In *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012), this Court held it was error to qualify Prodan as an expert witness. In *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), this Court overruled *State v. Morgan*, 326 S.C. 503, 485 S.E.2d 112 (1997) inasmuch as it held that only scientific expert testimony must pass a threshold reliability determination by the trial court prior to its admission into evidence.

This Court in Tapp noted that the holding of White was that all expert testimony must satisfy Rule 702, SCRE, must pass the trial court's gate keeping function. This insures that the proposed expert testimony meets a threshold level of reliability, regardless of whether it is scientific or unscientific.

The White Court stated that simply ruling a challenge to expert testimony went to its weight and not its admissibility was an improper delegation of responsibility. The Court held the trial judge had to serve the gate keeping function of insuring that expert testimony and evidence were reliable before it was heard by the jury.

This Court in Tapp specifically rejected the state's position that Prodan's credentials, his education and experience, and his ability to rule out scenarios of whom or why the crime transpired made his testimony admissible. This Court also rejected the argument the relative success of "victimology" or profiling as an investigative tool made Prodan's "expert" testimony admissible. It is apparent the Court of Appeals correctly held it was error to admit Prodan's "expert" testimony. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 23, 515 S.E.2d 508, 519 (1999).

However, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the error harmless. The point is this junk science was meant to lead the jury to believe that Prodan's "victimology" could help identify the murderer by pseudo piling inference upon pseudo inference from the facts before it.

As seen, Prodan testified he tried to ascertain whether the victim was a high risk individual because of their life style. Prodan opined that some people who were "low risk" because they were not involved "in criminal enterprises, they are not selling drugs, they are not involved in sexual affairs or promiscuity or prostitution." R. 576, l. 4 – 588, l. 4.

Prodan also told the jurors there were "moderate risk life styles." These included people working in a convenience store and a cab driver. R. 588, l. 17 – 589, l. 12.

The solicitor asked Prodan about the decedent's "risk level." Prodan opined decedent Hightower was probably a moderate risk because of her drug sales. "It was not – it doesn't give rise to the level of multi-national cartels, but it's not a college student selling five dollar baggies of marijuana to their dorm mates either, so it has to kind of fall in the middle." Prodan said the other decedent had an "exceedingly low risk" life style besides her living with decedent Hightower. R. 589, l. 16 – 590, l. 5.

Prodan opined that there is a misconception perpetuated by the media that violent crimes just happen and are random events. "*Our experience and our training indicate that is not the case. There is a motive for murder. There are victims who are selected by the offender for that reason.*" R. 590, ll. 6-21. (emphasis added).

Prodan said he had to ask himself how the person got into the house in this case since there was no forced entry. *Prodan then stated his "background information" indicated that Hightower only sold drugs "if there was previous notification."* R. 595, l. 1 – 596, l. 14. (emphasis added).

Prodan offered there was no evidence either of the decedents were a "victim of blunt-forced trauma." Prodan opined that both decedents were able to be controlled by the murderer, and he noted the fact decedent Wall was found nude. R. 597, l. 14 – 598, l. 21. As Prodan continued, the defense made further relevance and speculation objections that were overruled. R. 602, ll. 4-18.

Prodan again opined that there was always a motive for murder *and that the concept of murder without motive was a media myth.* R. 608, l. 11 – 609, l. 8.

In his closing argument, the solicitor emphasized Prodan's testimony as for conviction grounds and argued that petitioner and co-defendant Sessions planned the crime carefully and that one decedent was shot with a pillow over her head "*because as Mike Prodan said, it's a lot easier to shoot that pillow than to shoot Jamilla Hightower.*" R. 1010, l. 5 – 1011, l. 5.

It cannot, respectfully, be stated that the error in admitting Prodan's testimony had little, if anything, to do with the guilty verdict in this case. That the error had little, if any, likelihood of affecting the verdict must be stated *beyond a reasonable doubt*. See State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012) *citing* Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

Prodan's testimony was very prejudicial given that he led the jury to believe that his "science" dictated that the murderer or murderers knew the victim and he told the jurors that *Hightower only sold drugs "if there was previous notification."* R. 595, l. 1 – 596, l. 14. (emphasis added). Further, Prodan told the jurors that murder without motive was also a media myth. The state strongly desired the jury to believe that the motive here for the murder was a drug dispute between people who knew each other well. Prodan's testimony was inextricably intertwined with the state's theory of the evidence and cannot be deemed harmless.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the hearsay testimony of James Pearl that decedent Jamilla Hightower was screaming at petitioner in anger about the money he owed her for drugs was admissible as an “adoptive admission” since petitioner was present and did not deny it since some accusations or assertions, including this one, are not worth of a response and the legal principle of an “adoptive admission” was therefore inapplicable.

Relevant Facts

As seen, Pearl said he also knew petitioner and co-defendant Sessions. R. 117, ll. 20-22. R. 118, ll. 5-21. Pearl said he saw Hightower on Wednesday, two days before the decedents were killed while he was conversing with petitioner and co-defendant Sessions. Over defense counsel Frederick’s repeated hearsay objections, Pearl testified that Hightower was screaming at petitioner about the money he owed her. The judge continued to allow the solicitor to pursue this line of hearsay question and answer. Pearl said **the decedent was yelling “about drug money that was owed [her by petitioner].”** R. 120, l. 6 – 123, l. 5.

On cross-examination, Pearl acknowledged his prior criminal convictions and admitted that he had pending charges of second offense possession of cocaine and threatening a public official. Pearl acknowledged that he hoped the state would assist him with these charges. R. 149, ll. 9-12; 162, l. 6 – 163, l.3; and 168, l. 22 – 169, l. 8.

Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals held the statements were made in Stephens’s presence, and “he never attempted to refute them; therefore, they were admissible as adoptive admissions.” App. 2. The Court also reasoned because the decedent was unavailable that her accusation about petitioner

owing her money branded her as a drug dealer and was therefore a statement against penal interest under Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE. App. 2.

Discussion

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant, while testifying at trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. See Rule 801(c), SCRE. See, also, State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2nd 240 (2001). Here, the state elicited Pearl's hearsay testimony that decedent Hightower was yelling at petitioner about the money petitioner owed her for drugs. This, respectfully, was inadmissible hearsay to prove petitioner bought drugs from the decedent which neatly fit Prodan's yet to come testimony. It was highly prejudicial hearsay because it was calculated to provide an alleged motive for the murder: That petitioner elicited the help of co-defendant Sessions to rob and kill decedent Hightower. This would simultaneously relieve him of the drug debt, and also have Hightower fill the need for a victim of a robbery the men wanted to commit to obtain money. See State v. Caulder, 287 S.C. 507, 339 S.E.2d 876 (Ct.App. 1986). Petitioner should be granted a new trial based upon the admission of this prejudicial hearsay evidence. State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 638 S.E.2d 57 (2006).

The Court of Appeals applied the strange in and of itself legal concept of an adoptive admission too broadly. Ignoring the declarant in this situation was instead the reasonable thing for petitioner to have done. "The adoptive admissions rule allows admission into evidence of a defendant's failure to deny statements made in his presence which tend to incriminate him, *which a reasonable person would have denied under the circumstances as by his silence*, or his making an evasive, equivocal, unresponsive, or affirmative reply." State v. Nolan, 318 S.C. 253, 257, 456 S.E.2d 926, 928 (1995). (emphasis added).

“Statements made in the presence of a party are generally admissible, if he remained silent, when they are made, and the circumstances are such that he can speak and naturally would or ought to respond to them. In such circumstances, his silence may afford grounds for inferring that he acquiesces in the truth of the statements. But, where the situation is such that it would be improper for him to respond, statements made to him or in his person are inadmissible.” State v. Nolan, 318 S.C. 253, 257, 456 S.E.2d 926, 928 (1995). (emphasis added). *Citing* State v. McIntosh, 94 S.C. 439, 78 SE. 327 (1913).