STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 19 2013

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000793

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER M. STEPHENS,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29528-1276
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL iii

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL iii

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND iii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1

ARGUMENTS

I. Stephens’ challenge to the State’s expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology, given by SLED Agent Michael Prodan, is procedurally barred because he failed to raise the same argument in the trial court. Alternatively, Respondent submits that the Court of Appeals correctly found that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 1

A. How issue developed at trial 2

B. Discussion 7

1. Stephens’ belated relevancy objection does not preserve any issue for appellate review concerning testimony that was only objected to on the basis that the State had committed a discovery violation 7

2. Alternatively, the Court of Appeals properly found that any error in admitting Prodan’s testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt 10

II. The trial judge properly allowed the State to introduce James Pearl’s testimony about a conversation between Stephens and the victim because any statements by Stephens were admissible as admissions and as statements by a co-conspirator in furtherance of a conspiracy to rob and murder Jamilla. Further, his silence in the face of her statements were adoptive admissions by him of the debt that he owed her for drugs. See Rule 801(d)(2)(B), SCRE. Likewise, the conversation was also admissible to show bad blood between Stephens and Jamilla. Alternatively, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 14

A. How the issue arose at trial 15

B. Discussion 18

CONCLUSION 22

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding that the error of the trial court in admitting the testimony of SLED "victimologist expert" Mike Prodan was harmless error, since his speculative, irrelevant, and inadmissible testimony under State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) impermissibly led the jury to believe the relationship between petitioner and the decedent was consistent with the motive for and the circumstances of the murder?

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding the hearsay testimony of James Pearl that decedent Jamilla Hightower was screaming at petitioner in anger about the money he owed her for drugs was admissible as an "adoptive admission" since petitioner was present and did not deny it since some accusations or assertions, including this one, are not w01ih of a response and the legal principle of an "adoptive admission" was therefore inapplicable?

COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals correctly found that any error in the introduction of the State's expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

- II. Whether the trial judge properly allowed the State to introduce James Pearl's testimony about a conversation between Stephens and the victim because any statements by Stephens were admissible as admissions and as statements by a co-conspirator in furtherance of a conspiracy to rob and murder Jamilla. Further, his silence in the face of her statements were adoptive admissions by him of the debt that he owed her for drugs. Whether the conversation was likewise admissible to show bad blood between Stephens and Jamilla? Alternatively, whether any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND

- III. Whether Stephens' challenge to the State's expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology, given by SLED Agent Michael Prodan, is procedurally barred because he failed to raise the same argument in the trial court? [Argued in Argument I].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Christopher M. Stephens (Stephens) in July 2007 for two counts of accessory before the fact of the two murders and armed robbery. (07-GS-26-2974 through -2976). His co-defendant, Jimmy Lee Sessions, (Sessions) in July 2007 for two counts of murder (07-GS-26-2962), burglary in the first degree (07-GS-26-2968) and armed robbery (07-GS-26-2961). Bobby G. Frederick and Laura L. Hiller, Esquires represented Stephens. Johnny Gardner, Esquire, represented Sessions.¹

Sessions and Stephens were jointly tried on these charges before the Honorable Stephen H. John on February 2-6, 2009. tried with him. The jury found Stephens and Sessions guilty of all of the indicted charges. Stephens received current sentences of forty years imprisonment for the accessory convictions. A timely Notice of Appeal was served and filed by each defendant. The Court of Appeals affirmed in a January 30, 2013, unpublished Opinion. *State v. Stevens*, 2013-UP-062 (S.C. Ct.App., Jan. 30, 2013), **App. 1-4**. A timely rehearing petition (**App. 5-9**) was denied on March 20, 2013. **App. 10**. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on June 19, 2013.²

ARGUMENTS

II. Stephens' challenge to the State's expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology, given by SLED Agent Michael Prodan, is procedurally barred because he failed to raise the same argument in the trial court. Alternatively, Respondent submits that the Court of Appeals correctly found that any error in the introduction of the State's expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. [Respondent's Issue I and Additional sustaining Ground].

Relying upon this Court's decision in *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468(2012)

¹Assistant Solicitors Bradley Coy Richardson and Donna Elder, of the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted the case. A November 2008 trial on the charges ended in a mistrial. Charges against Marshal Stephens were dismissed for lack of evidence.

² Sessions currently has a pending certiorari petition, which was filed on the same date as well.

(*Tapp II*), Stephens maintains that the trial judge abused his discretion by allowing the State to present expert testimony on crime scene analysis and victimology through SLED Agent Michael Prodan. Respondent submits that his challenge to Agent Prodan's testimony is procedurally barred because he failed to raise the same argument in the trial court. Alternatively, Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by allowing the State to introduce the evidence. Respondent further submits that, if there was error, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. How issue developed at trial.

Agent Prodan testified that he has been employed at SLED for ten years and that he was the Supervisor of the Behavioral Sciences Unit. Prior to that time, he was "the lead agent and the supervisor of the Violent Crime Analysis Unit" of the California Attorney General's Office. Both at SLED and with the California Attorney General's Office, his job responsibilities involved "crime scene analyses, consultation on violent crime, investigative techniques and strategies, threat assessment, interviews and interrogation, and what is generally referred to in the media as psychological profiling." **R. pp. 568-69.**³ Agent Prodan described his educational training as

³ As he had in *Tapp II*, Agent Prodan also listed the extensive nature of his prior employment and his educational and other experience in the field:

[I] first started in violent crime training, of course, with the Las Angeles County Sheriff's Department and Police Academy in Violent Crime Investigation, but as a agent for the California Department of Justice, Bureau of Investigation, was a specialized six months program, with the advanced training center in the California Criminalistic Institute, involving crime scene analyses and criminalistic, if you would, that include courses in firearms trajectory, blood spatter interpretation, and forensic pathology.

During that time I was selected and spent a one-year Fellowship at the F.B.I. Academy in Quantico, Virginia, at the National Center for the Analyses of Violent Crime. That one year Fellowship also included courses at the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology on basic and advanced Forensic Pathology courses in Psychiatry in the Law, in the University of Virginia at Charlottesville. There were also courses at the Clark Institute of the

“ongoing” and he explained that, “more often than not,” it involved in-service training ... with the International Criminal Investigative Analyst Fellowship, certain training programs with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, yearly training and updates with the Association of the Threat Assessment Professionals.” He likewise engages in “self-initiated education,” by “keeping abreast of the literature involving homicide and sexual assault, and violent crime in general, and involving the literature and the texts that are available” to law enforcement and the general public. **R. pp. 570-71.**⁴

Both defendants objected when the State offered him as an expert in “Crime Scene Interpretation and Analyses” (**R. pp. 571-72**) and the trial judge heard their arguments *in camera*. Once the trial judge had ascertained that Agent Prodan’s notes had been provided to the defense,⁵ he asked the State to briefly summarize to the proffered testimony. **R. pp. 581-82.**

The Assistant Solicitor explained that:

Psychology of Aggression in Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

There has been training over a varied of time involving the California Homicide Investigators Association, California Sexual Assault Investigators' Association, the Association of Threat Assessment Professionals.

See **R. pp. 569-70.**

⁴ Agent Prodan is a “member of the International Criminal Investigative Analyst Fellowship, which is ... a worldwide organization that standardizes and provides training on criminal investigative analyses profiling.” He is also “a member of the Association of Threat Assessment Professionals,” and he had previously been a member of the “California Homicide Investigators Association, and California Sexual Assault Investigators' Association.” **R. p. 570.** Agent Prodan has “been brought in on cases by law enforcement ... many times” and he has been qualified as a crime scene analyst in a number of courts. **R. p. 571.**

⁵ Both defendants initially complained because the State had not disclosed that Agent Prodan would be giving the testimony at issue and because there was no report. The State, however, responded by pointing to items where the testimony was disclosed. **R. pp. 572-75.** Prodan then testified that the Assistant Solicitor had met with him about two weeks earlier, and she provided him with copies of the crime scene photographs and the autopsy report; and she asked him to testify “[t]o the materials pertaining to how the crime occurred.” However, he had not kept notes, and he had not issued a report to law enforcement or the Solicitor's Office. He also had not generated any report, except for his “case notes” that were merely bullet points “to keep my thoughts on track.” Even these were only generated a week before his testimony. **R. pp. 575-81.**

the process of my direct-examination of Agent Prodan is going to be, show him some of the State's exhibits, . . . ask him if he has had an opportunity to review them, based on his expert opinion, what do these crime scene photos tell us in reference to victimology, method of operation, motive, things like that, Your Honor. It has nothing to do specifically with the Defendants. He has not reviewed the Defendants, he has not talked with the Defendants, he has not got the Defendants' statements.

R. p. 582. The defendants stated their objections to the proffered testimony. Sessions' sole objection was relevance, **R. p. 582, l. 18**, while Stephens asked that he be allowed to view the notes to prepare for cross-examination and again claimed that there had been a discovery violation. **R. p. 582, l. 21-p. 583, l. 3.** However, the trial judge found that there had not been a *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) violation. He further noted that he had the notes that Agent Prodan had made provided to the defendants, and he noted that the examination would proceed after a break. **R. p. 583. ll. 12-25.** *See also R. pp. 584-85.*

When the jury returned, the trial judge explained that he was "going to allow the witness to -- and is going to qualify the witness to give his opinion in the areas of Behavioral Science, Violent Crime, Methodology, Motive Behavior." **R. p. 585, l. 23-p. 586, l. 1.** In front of the jury, Agent Prodan explained that, upon receiving a request for assistance from a law enforcement agency, he first asks for background information about the victim or victims. "It is referred to in certain literatures . . . as a Victimology, the study of the victim." The initial question he tries to answer is why the victim was selected to be a victim of a violent crime. This requires him to assess the degree of risk the person had to be a victim - whether it is a low, moderate or high risk of being a victim. In making this assessment, "we insist that the agency does not give us any information about any suspects that they may have developed. . . because we don't want to have any contamination . . . on suspect information as to what actually happened during the commission of the violent crime." **R.**

pp. 586-87.

Agent Prodan explained that an individual's risk level is based upon the individual's circumstances. So, high risk victims are persons whose lifestyles put them "at a high risk of becoming a violent crime victim."⁶ Low risk victims are those persons who are not involved in sexual affairs or prostitution, and who are not involved in criminal enterprises or drug selling. Experience and research reflect that "the lower the risk of a victim, the more likely it is that a person[] - - is a victim because of a person[al] cause." **R. pp. 586-88.** In between low and high risk victims are the "moderate risk victims." Those persons do not live a very risky lifestyle, but certain circumstances in their lives increases their risk of being a victim. He included convenience store clerks and cab drivers in this category, as well as persons who are "dabbling in criminal enterprises." **R. p. 588.**

The background information he received in this case was that one victim, Jamilla, "was involved in some reasonably moderate illicit drug sales." Selling illegal drugs is risky by its very nature because people will often try to steal from the person. The crime scene photographs confirmed that Jamilla had considered herself to be at risk because she had "availed herself" of a shotgun to provide her with physical protection. **R. pp. 588-89.** Agent Prodan assessed Jamilla's risk level as moderate because of her drug trafficking. With the exception of living with Jamilla, he assessed Monica's risk level as low. **R. pp. 589-90.**

The next step in his process is "to look at how the crime occurred" and ascertain the motive for the murders.⁷ Here, the murders occurred in Jamilla's residence, which is where law enforcement

⁶ He included persons who are "involved in criminal organizations and enterprises, criminal gangs," as well as persons who traffic in narcotics or are sexually promiscuous within this category because these persons "put themselves in a position" to be "more susceptible of becoming victims of violence than anyone else."

⁷ It is his expert opinion, based upon experience and research, that there is always a motive for violent crimes, such as murder; and that any contrary belief misunderstands violent crimes. **R. p. 590.**

learned that she would primarily engage in her drug transactions. Also, the killer brought a weapon, which demonstrated some “pre-planning” by the perpetrator. Further, “[t]he victims were killed with what we typically see in a quote, unquote, drug related murder, a small to medium caliber handgun.” Nor did the perpetrator make any effort to move or otherwise “interact with” the victims’ bodies after killing them, and there was a minimal effort to destroy or conceal any physical evidence that was present, other than taking the murder weapon.⁸ **R. pp. 590-92.** Based on these factors, Agent Prodan opined that this was “a primarily drug-related murder, and the motive for drug-related murders have to do with the discipline of the individual” perpetrator. **R. pp. 592-93; 600-01.**⁹

Next, Agent Prodan studied how the crimes occurred, both pre-offense and offense behavior. Before the crime, someone had to devise a plan: they had to select a particular place to rob and a particular time to rob it; they had to bring a weapon and ammunition; and they had to develop a plan to gain entry into the residence where the murder occurred. The manner in which the murders occurred shows that the plan for the murders originated outside of the residence. **R. pp. 593-95.**

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